
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Andrea Jones 
 (Tel: 01443 864420   Email: jonesa23@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 15th November 2023 

 
To Whom It May Concern, 
 
A Special multi-locational meeting of the Housing and Environment Scrutiny Committee will be held in 
Penallta House, and via Microsoft Teams on Tuesday, 21st November, 2023 at 5.30 pm to consider the 
matters contained in the following agenda.  Councillors and the public wishing to speak on any item can 
do so by making a request to the Chair.  You are also welcome to use Welsh at the meeting, both these 
requests require a minimum notice period of 3 working days.  A simultaneous translation will be provided 
on request. 
 
Members of the public or Press may attend in person at Penallta House or may view the meeting live via 
the following link: https://civico.net/caerphilly 
  

 

This meeting will be live-streamed and a recording made available to view via the Council’s website, 
except for discussions involving confidential or exempt items.  Therefore the images/audio of those 

individuals speaking will be publicly available to all via the recording on the Council’s website at 
www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

 
 

Yours faithfully, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Pages 
  

1  To receive apologies for absence. 
 

Public Document Pack

https://civico.net/caerphilly
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


 

2  Declarations of Interest.   
 
Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on this agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers. 
 

To receive and consider the following Scrutiny reports:- 
 
3  Housing Offices Rationalisation. 

1 - 18 
 

4  Housing Revenue Account Charges - 2024/2025. 
19 - 36 

 

 
 
 
Circulation: 
 
Councillors C. Bishop, M. Chacon-Dawson, R. Chapman, D. Cushing, C.J. Cuss, D.T. Davies, T. Heron, 
A. Hussey, M.P. James, D. Ingram-Jones, A. McConnell, B. Owen, L. Phipps, H. Pritchard, J.A. Pritchard, 
J. Rao, A. Whitcombe (Chair) and S. Williams (Vice Chair) 
 
 
And Appropriate Officers 
 
 
HOW WE WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION 
Those individuals that attend committee meetings to speak/give evidence will be named in the minutes of that meeting, 
sometimes this will include their place of employment or business and opinions expressed.  Minutes of Meetings including details 
of speakers will be publicly available to all via the Council website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk. except for discussions involving 
confidential or exempt items. 
 
You have a number of rights in relation to your information, including the rights of access to information we hold about you and 
the right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being processed. 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights please  view the Full Committee Meetings Privacy 

Notice on our website or contact Legal Services by email griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk or telephone 01443 863028. 

 

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
mailto:griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
 
 

SPECIAL HOUSING AND ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 
21ST NOVEMBER 2023  

 
 

 

SUBJECT: HOUSING OFFICES RATIONALISATION  

 
REPORT BY: DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 

1.1 To seek the views of members on proposals to permanently close the Housing Offices at 
Gilfach, Lansbury Park, Graig Yr Rhacca and Ty Sign, replacing them with a centralised 
housing service, based at Penallta House, as part of a proposal to modernise and 
improve housing services, prior to submission to Cabinet. 

 
 

2. SUMMARY 

 
2.1 As part of a review of how we provide housing services to our customers and 

communities, and following a comprehensive customer consultation exercise, we are 
seeking approval to permanently close all existing housing offices, replacing them with a 
centralised housing office at Penallta House.  This will facilitate service modernisation 
and improvements by reducing the need for customers to travel to a housing office to 
receive services and make housing officers more available to our customers through 
working agilely within our communities, thereby increasing opportunities for access and 
engagement and building better relationships with our customers. 

 
2.2 We had already begun to review of service delivery prior to the Covid 19 lockdown but 

working practices have since changed significantly, with the focus shifting towards 
accessibility of services and community-based delivery models.  The decentralised 
housing office delivery model is out of date and although it benefited those customers 
and communities in the immediate vicinity, there were service accessibility barriers for 
those customers not able to physically attend those offices. 

 
2.3 Removing the requirement to operationally staff several decentralised offices will allow 

us to explore and maximise opportunities to evolve our delivery model, focusing services 
and staff resources where they are most needed. 

 
2.4 We propose to improve access by our customers to face to face contact and increase 

our community visibility, carrying out more home visits, be available at community 
hubs/other venues, and embed a community-based approach within our teams.  
Increasing our community presence will lead to a greater insight into the needs of our 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



customers and our communities, leading to a better understanding of localised issues 
and problems, enabling earlier intervention and targeted support.   

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1 Members comments are sought in relation to the recommendation that the housing 

offices at Lansbury Park, Graig Yr Rhacca and Gilfach, and the community housing 
office at Ty Sign be permanently closed. 

 
3.2 Members comments are sought on the transition of the Landlord Service from a 

traditional office-based model to a community-based delivery model. 
 
3.3 Members comments are sought on the relocation of the Landlord Service to Penallta 

House where the wider Caerphilly Homes Housing Service has recently relocated.   
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The current decentralised office-based delivery model is out of date and no longer 

meets the needs of our customers or communities.  Three of the remaining four offices 
have been temporarily closed since March 2020 with very little feedback received from 
our customers and communities.  

 
4.2 To transform the way in which we deliver our Landlord Service, we need to remove the 

barriers that some of our customers experience when trying to access face to face 
contact and increase our community visibility, carry out more home visits, be available at 
community hubs/other venues, and embed a community-based approach within our 
teams.  

  
4.3 74.1% of respondents to our recent comprehensive Caerphilly Homes customer 

consultation on the office closure proposals agreed with the proposal for our officers to 
work more regularly in community locations, with 68.5% agreeing with our proposal to 
offer more home visits. 

 
4.4 The relocation of Landlord Services staff to Penallta House will result in the majority of 

the Caerphilly Homes Housing Service being co-located, which will encourage closer 
working relationships between all housing colleagues and facilitate improved, more 
consistent service provision.  It will also meet the wider corporate transformation agenda 
to reduce the number of buildings and deliver services differently. 

 
 
5. THE REPORT 

 
 Background 

 
5.1 Prior to the Covid 19 pandemic the Landlord Service operated from four fully staffed 

housing offices, at Blackwood, Lansbury Park, Graig Yr Rhacca, and Gilfach, and one 
part time community office at Ty Sign, with core service elements such as Tenancy 
Enforcement, Rents and Tenancy Support, Older Persons Housing and Tenant & 
Community Involvement operating from the Business & Technology Centre, Tredomen.  

 
5.2  The Covid 19 lockdown during March 2020 required the Landlord Service to adapt 

overnight and essential services were provided from a single centralised location at the 
Upper Rhymney Valley area housing office, Gilfach House. Interim management 

Page 2



arrangements were put in place and staff from the four housing offices attended on a 
rota basis to provide essential services and primarily worked from home in accordance 
with Covid restrictions.  To maintain service delivery in these very challenging 
circumstances, interim management arrangements were implemented to ensure that 
four decentralised teams could successfully work together as one centralised team, and 
permanent changes to the telephony system were required to ensure that customers 
could continue to make contact by telephone at a time when face to face engagement 
was not permitted, resulting in an increased reliance on telephone contacts.  

 
5.3 As Covid restrictions eased, the remaining housing offices and community office did not 

lend themselves to reopening in a covid safe manner due to the layout of the buildings, 
and the lease of the former Eastern Valleys housing office located at The Marketplace, 
Blackwood expired during December 2020 and was not renewed.  The offices at 
Lansbury Park, Graig Yr Rhacca and Ty Sign remain closed with Landlord Services 
continuing to be provided from Gilfach House. 

 
5.4 Decentralised housing offices were historically viewed as good practice and very popular 

with social landlords during the late 1980’s and 1990’s, but over the past 20 years or so 
there has been a sector wide shift towards the centralisation of housing services, with 
consideration being given to front line services being delivered at a community level in 
range of different ways.  It is acknowledged that when the Landlord Service closed four 
of its previous eight Housing Offices between 2008 and 2014, some customers were 
disadvantaged by a need to travel further to access face to face housing services, with 
no alternative options introduced to mitigate the impact at that time.  

  
5.5 Prior to Covid a move away from the decentralised service delivery model was 

considered, exploring how to modernise and streamline working practices to improve 
service delivery outcomes, meeting both the future aspirations of the service and the 
needs and expectations of our customers and communities.  Other than the closure of 
50% of its decentralised housing offices, Caerphilly Homes had not changed the housing 
management delivery model in three decades, disadvantaging many of our customers 
when viewed against the models of other social landlords. 

 
5.6 As part of these service delivery improvements, surgeries at accessible Council and 

partner owned community venues, including libraries, community centres and health 
centres, were piloted.  Offering financial support and assistance to our customers on 
housing related matters, they proved to be extremely successful in improving access to 
our services and engagement and helped to improve existing and develop new 
partnerships with other organisations.  These were paused during the initial lockdown 
restrictions, but the Landlord Service has been working closely with Caerphilly Cares 
and other partners, and these have been re-introduced at several community venues on 
a pilot basis.  This helped to determine the likely demand for community surgeries, and 
the most appropriate venues and locations for our customers, with varying degrees of 
success.  

 
Current Position 

 

5.7 The majority of activities undertaken at housing offices do not require a decentralised 
delivery model and there have been clear benefits of the interim centralisation of the 
Landlord Service, including a more consistent application of policies and procedures, a 
reduction in duplication, and better communication between staff across the wider 
Housing Service.  There has been limited feedback following the temporary housing 
office closures over three and a half years ago, and the informal feedback that we have 
received is that if face to face contact is required, customers would rather have 

Page 3



interaction in person at their home or within their local community, than have to travel to 
an office outside of their immediate community.  We realise that this is often 
inconvenient, and difficult for some for a variety of reasons, including distance, disability, 
and the availability and cost of transport.  Although there have been varying degrees of 
success at community venues piloted to date, these locations were appointment only 
rather than drop-in and not publicised or promoted on social media.  

 

Consultation 
 

5.8 There is a statutory requirement under s234 of The Renting Homes Wales Act 2016 for 
Caerphilly Homes, as a community landlord, to consult with its customers (contract 
holders) on proposed changes to housing management arrangements and provide 
opportunity for comments prior to reaching a decision.   During August 2023, all 10,669 
Caerphilly Homes households were written to, seeking their views on the following 
proposals and invited to complete an anonymous questionnaire, either in hardcopy or 
online (see Appendix 1): 

 

i. Staff would spend more time out in your communities, bringing services to you, 
rather than you having to come to us.  We could use venues such as local libraries 
and community centres. Some sessions may be available for you to drop in and 
others might be by appointment, and we would let you know more about these 
sessions in the future. More home visits would also be offered by Caerphilly Homes 
staff.  
 

ii. All Caerphilly Homes staff would be based together at one location, Penallta House 
near Ystrad Mynach. You would be able to meet staff here as well as out in the 
community. The Caerphilly Homes offices currently in Graig Y Rhacca, Lansbury 
Park, Gilfach and Holly Road would close permanently. 

 
5.9   Only 178 Caerphilly Homes households returned the questionnaire.  This is very low  but 

may reflect that all but one of the offices has been temporarily closed for almost three 
years and their proposed permanent closure is not considered a significant issue for 
most customers.  A significant proportion of those who responded were resident in the 
communities in which the offices are located, so would have been the most likely to have 
utilised the offices on a regular basis rather than those who were required to travel to 
them.  

 

           Of those who responded: 
 

i. 74.1% agreed with the proposal for Caerphilly Homes staff to work more regularly in 
community locations, whilst 14% disagreed.  
 

ii. 68.5% agreed with the proposal for Caerphilly Homes offering more home visits, 
whilst 15.2% disagreed.  

 

iii. 48.9% agreed with the proposal to have one main Caerphilly Homes office based in 
Penallta House, whilst 36% disagreed. 
 

iv. 35.0% considered that they would be affected by the proposed closures. 
 

v. 69.1% mainly contacted us by phone prior to Covid. This has increased to 83.7% 
since and 76.4% indicated this would remain their preferred contact method should 
the closures proceed. 
 

Page 4



vi. The main reason customers gave for contacting the Housing Office was to report a 
repair, however these reports are all forwarded on to the Response Repairs team as 
undertaking of repairs is not a function of the Landlord Service 
 

vii. 86.5% have access to the internet. 
 

5.10  The decentralised housing offices at Lansbury Park. Graig Yr Rhacca and Ty Sign are 
HRA assets whereas Gilfach House is a corporate General Fund asset.  The Service 
Asset Management Plan produced pre-Covid stated that each of the HRA buildings 
presented operational barriers for staff and customers, for example, inaccessible/non-
compliant buildings for persons with disabilities, split level internal layouts leading to 
isolation, lack of meeting room facilities and being located on housing estates with poor 
public transport links etc.. 

 
5.11 The internal inspections carried out pre-Covid revealed that each of the buildings 

required a financial investment to improve the current facilitates but this would not 
address the issues around location, layout, and accessibility.  Although essential health 
and safety functions have been maintained, each of the buildings has seen a 
deterioration in their overall condition since their temporary closure during March 2020 
and would now require a significant financial investment if they were to be reopened, 
including some major components, for example the Graig Y Rhacca office requires a 
new roof. All are in areas of identified unmet housing need and have potential for 
redesignation and/or redevelopment. 

  
Future Service Delivery 

 
5.12  Our current and future customers require more from Caerphilly Homes, as their landlord, 

than the historic landlord & tenant relationship.  To enable us to better understand and 
respond to the needs of our customers and communities we need to increase our 
community visibility, carry out more home visits, be available at community hubs/other 
venues, and embed a community-based approach within our teams.  We want to 
remove the barriers that exist for some customers who struggle to come into our offices 
or access services online and encourage more opportunities for customer and 
community conversations, building relationships and trust.    

 
5.13 The traditional ‘housing officer’ role has changed significantly over the years and the 

importance and value of this role in our communities was a key topic at the Chartered 
Institute of Housing Cymru TAI Conference 2023, and a recommendation of the Better 
Social Housing Review 2022 (England) was that social housing providers must ‘develop 
a proactive local community presence’.  

 
5.14 Removing the requirement to operationally staff several decentralised offices will allow 

us to explore and maximise opportunities to evolve our delivery model, focusing services 
and staff resources where they are most needed. Increasing our community presence 
will lead to a greater insight into the needs of our customers and our communities, 
leading to a better understanding of localised issues and problems, enabling earlier 
intervention and targeted support.   

 
5.15   Whilst not readily accessible for some customers Penallta House is considered a suitable 

location for a centralised housing office as it is centrally located in the County Borough, 
has onsite parking, a train station close by, is accessible for those with limited mobility 
and would offer opportunities for our customers to benefit from a range of council 
services in one location. It is acknowledged that whilst there are local bus and train 
services that stop close to Penallta House there is no public transport network 
immediately outside Penallta House. For those unable to access Penallta House 

Page 5



community surgeries and home visits will be available. 
 
5.16  Whenever possible we would like to focus on meeting customers within their homes but 

also recognise the importance of creating opportunities to meet with them elsewhere. 
Although we have piloted surgeries in several community venues with varying success, 
these were by appointment only and our aim is to extend these, offering both 
appointments and drop-in services, with a proactive publicity and promotion campaign to 
encourage take-up.  We are keen to extend our work with partners, recognising the 
benefits of a multi-agency approach, and are already committed to ensuring that the 
Landlord Service team play a key role in the new Community Hub at Rhymney Library.  

 
5.17  As part of our recent statutory consultation exercise, we asked our customers for 

suggestions of community venues that may be appropriate for surgeries and have 
already begun to consider the suitability of the suggested venues in terms of 
accessibility for our customers, internal layouts that offer private rooms etc.  Sharing our 
community venues/buildings in this way will not only increase our community presence 
and accessibility, but there may be an indirect financial benefit for those community 
facilities that charge for room hire and running costs.   

 
5.18 The location, frequency, need and demand for housing surgeries within our communities 

would be subject to regular review in order to ensure that we are targeting resources 
appropriately to meet the needs of our customers. 

 
5.19 The Landlord Service will continue to be available by telephone, text and email, and a 

new online customer portal is due to go live shortly, which will make it easier for 
customers to update matters relating to their contract, to view items such as rent 
statements and recent correspondence, and to report issues of concern.  Whilst we 
realise that digital engagement may not be an option or preference for some customers, 
they can also choose to use existing digital channels to contact us, such as Teams, 
WhatsApp, or the Caerphilly Homes Facebook page. 

 
5.20 The majority of the wider Caerphilly Homes team have recently relocated to Penallta 

House as part of the overarching corporate review of service provision, the 
rationalisation of corporate office buildings and the delivery of the transformation 
agenda.  The benefits to staff and customers of the wider Caerphilly Homes team being 
co-located at one office alongside an agile working model are already being realised. 
Improved working relationships between teams being recognised, removal of some 
duplication of tasks/functions thereby improving the overall customer journey, and the 
relocation of the Landlord Service team to Penallta House would support further 
development of these benefits.   

 
  Conclusion   

 
5.21 Caerphilly Homes’ decentralised delivery model is out of date and no longer fit for 

purpose.  We must adapt to meet the changing needs and expectations of our 
customers and communities, and to achieve this we need to transform our service 
delivery model, removing the barriers that exist for some customers who struggle to 
come into our offices or access services online.   

 
5.22 To understand the needs of our customers and communities we need to implement 

good practice by increasing our community visibility, carry out more home visits, be 
available at community hubs/other venues, and embed a community-based approach 
within our teams. We want to encourage more opportunities for customer and 
community conversations, building relationships and trust.   

 

Page 6



5.23 To reopen our existing housing offices would require a significant financial investment 
yet the buildings themselves not considered fit for purpose due to accessibility barriers, 
a lack of facilities and their remote locations etc..  The required operational staffing 
levels would significantly hinder our aims and aspirations of taking our services to our 
customers and communities and increasing our community presence.  

 
5.24 Although not the reason for this transition to a community-based service delivery model, 

each of the existing housing offices can be repurposed in some way to meet the need for 
additional social housing in their respective communities, either by conversion back into 
a residential dwelling or where the site itself has future potential development potential. 

 
5.25 There are challenges to adopting new and innovative service delivery models, but we 

recognise that doing more of the same is not an option that will meet either our customers 
ever changing and often complex needs, nor the future aims and aspirations of Caerphilly 
Homes.  
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 No assumptions are made in this report.  

 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 The Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) suggests that the proposals to close the four 
offices and provide a centralised service to complement agile community-based services 
will have a positive impact for customers by increasing the opportunities for customer 
engagement with Caerphilly Homes Landlord Services and reducing obstacles to 
engagement.  

 
7.2     Any negative impacts of closing the housing offices will be mitigated by providing an 

increased range of options to engage with housing services provided by Caerphilly Homes 
 
7.3       By providing opportunities for people to have improved access to landlord Services the 

IIA shows that the proposal will have a positive impact on equality, diversity and 
inclusion, on tackling social disadvantage and on promoting the wellbeing of existing 
and future generations.   

 
7.4      IIA Link  

 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 The purpose of this proposal is to transition to an improved service delivery model rather 

than to make efficiency savings.  There are not anticipated to be any revenue savings in 
respect of this proposal. 

 
8.2 Not reopening the offices will result in capital savings in respect of repair and 

maintenance work that would otherwise be required to those buildings and will facilitate 
redesignation and redevelopment opportunities to address unmet need for affordable 
housing. 

 

Page 7

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-form-housing-environment-scrutiny-report


 
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Housing office staff are currently operating out of Gilfach House on interim management 

arrangements.  Should the recommendations be approved operational and management 
arrangements will be reviewed to facilitate the change to centralised services and 
community-based provision to improve service provision.  There are no proposals for a 
reduction in staff numbers. 

 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 A comprehensive formal consultation exercise of all Caerphilly Homes households was 

carried out during August 2023 in respect of the proposals, and the results are reflected 
in the report.  

 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  

 
11.1 This is an operational decision following a comprehensive formal consultation exercise 

with contract holders, as required under s.234 of The Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016.  
 
 
Author:        Fiona Wilkins, Housing Services Manager (wilkife@caerphilly.gov.uk) 
        Julie Reynolds, Landlord Services Manager (reynoj1@caerphilly.gov.uk) 
       
Consultees: Cllr Andrew Whitcombe, Chair – Housing and Environment Scrutiny 

Cllr Shane Williams, Vice Chair – Housing and Environment Scrutiny 
Cllr Shayne Cook, Cabinet Member for Housing  
Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive 
Dave Street, Deputy Chief Executive 
Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
Mark S Williams, Corporate Director for Economy and Environment   
Richard (Ed) Edmunds, Corporate Director for Education and Corporate 
Services  
 Stephen R Harris, Head of Financial Services and Section 151 Officer  
Nick Taylor-Williams, Head of Housing 
Lesley Allen, Principal Group Accountant (Housing) 
Claire Davies, Private Sector Housing Manager 
Kerry Denman, Housing Solutions manager 
Jane Roberts-Waite, Head of Housing Development and Strategy 
Elizabeth Willington, Area Housing Manager 

Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Caerphilly Homes letter and questionnaire to customers  

Page 8

mailto:wilkife@caerphilly.gov.uk


Appendix 1 

Housing Office Consultation 2023  

 

During the Covid pandemic the neighbourhood housing offices in Graig Y Rhacca 
and Lansbury Park and the community office in Holly Road were closed 
temporarily. During the same period the area housing office in Blackwood was 
permanently closed,  following the end of the lease.  
All services previously offered from these locations were made available at the 
Upper Rhymney Valley Area Housing Office in William Street in Gilfach, near 
Bargoed and are currently being provided from this office. 
 
At Caerphilly Homes we have been looking at how the change to more flexible 
working can help us improve our services to customers. We are reviewing how 
we provide  housing services in future and would like your views. 
 
We would like to reduce the need for you to travel to a housing office and 
provide other ways for Caerphilly Homes staff to be available to you. To do this 
Caerphilly Homes is proposing: 
 
1. Staff would spend more time out in your communities, bringing services to you, 

rather than you having to come to us.  We could use venues such as local 
libraries and community centres. Some sessions may be available for you to 

drop in and others might be by appointment, and we would let you know more 
about these sessions in the future.  More home visits would also be offered by 

Caerphilly Homes staff. 

Page 9



2. All Caerphilly Homes staff would  be based together at one location, Penallta 
House near Ystrad Mynach.  You would be able to meet staff here as well as 
out in the  community.  The Caerphilly Homes offices currently in Graig Y 
Rhacca, Lansbury Park, Gilfach and Holly Road would close permanently. 
 

You would still be able to contact us by telephone, letter, email, or through the 
Council’s website.  If you needed to see someone, this could be done at a 
community venue, in your home or at Penallta House.   
 

We are introducing new telephone systems to help make sure that you can 
contact the right person when you get in touch. You can also contact us using text 
if easier for you. 
 

We are in the final stages of developing an on-line portal which will enable you to  
engage with us on a range of issues on-line if you find that to be more 
convenient. 
 

It is a legal requirement under Section 234 of the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 
2016 that we consult with you on proposed changes to our housing management 
arrangements that will affect you all, giving you the opportunity to comment, and 
that we consider your comments before we make a decision on the proposals 
above.  
 

We want to know what you think about these proposals. We would also like to 
hear about any venues you think we could use to meet you and others in your 
community. 

 

We would be grateful if you would tell us what you think  by 
answering a few questions in our survey. 

For more information and to fill in the survey, please visit:  
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/housing-office-consultation-2023  
or point your smartphone camera at the QR code. 

For help completing the survey,  or if you need a paper copy or 

an alternative format / language, please 

E-mail: tenantinvolvement@caerphilly.gov.uk  

or telephone 01443 811433 / 01443 811434 

Survey ends 24 August 2023 

Page 10



Housing Office   
Consultation 2023 

 

Please give us your views 
We want to know what you think about the proposals we have talked about in 
the leaflet you recently received. As a reminder, the proposals are:  
 

1. Staff would spend more time out in your communities, bringing services to 
you, rather than you having to come to us.  We could use venues such as local 
libraries and community centres. Some sessions may be available for you to 
drop in and others might be by appointment, and we would let you know 
more about these sessions in the future.  More home visits would also be 
offered by Caerphilly Homes staff.   

2. All Caerphilly Homes staff would be based together at one location, Penallta 
House near Ystrad Mynach.  You would be able to meet staff here as well as 
out in the community.  The Caerphilly Homes offices currently in Graig Y 
Rhacca, Lansbury Park, Gilfach and Holly Road would close permanently.  
Survey ends 24th August 2023  

 

How we will use your information 
You have a number of rights in relation to the information including the right 
of access to information we hold about you and the right of complaint if you 
are unhappy with the way your information is being processed. For further 
information on how we process this information and your rights please follow 
this link: 
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/foi/privacynotices/privacy-notice-public-sector-housing-en.aspx 

 

Page 11



Q1. This survey is anonymous but it would be helpful if you would let us know 
the area 
 where you live e.g. Cefn Fforest, Graig Y Rhacca, Pontlottyn? 

 

Area .................................................................................................................................. 

Q2. BEFORE Covid what was the main way you contacted Caerphilly Homes staff? 

Tick one only 

 Telephone                             Email   

 Visited a housing office   Through the Council’s website  

 Other (please tell us) ......................................................................................... 

Q3. SINCE Covid what is the main way you contact Caerphilly Homes staff? 

Tick one only 

 Telephone        Email   

 Through the Council’s website    

 By visiting the Upper Rhymney Valley Area Housing Office  

 Other (please tell us) ......................................................................................... 

Q4. How many times have you contacted Caerphilly Homes in the last 6 months?  

 0 times        1-2 times   3-6 times     7 or more times   

(go to Q7)  (go to Q5)  (go to Q5)  (go to Q5) 

Page 12



Q5. Thinking about the last time you got in touch was it to… 

Tick one only 

 Report a repair                     Advice on your tenancy   

 Advice about rent or benefits   Problems with neighbours  

 Moving home 

 Something else? Please tell us what it was....................................................... 

 

Q6. How did you contact us?  

 By Telephone                       By Email   

 By Post  Via the Council’s Website 

 At a community venue Through family, friends or a support worker 

 Other (please tell us) ……....................................................................................... 

Q7. Do you use or have access to the internet? 

    Yes   go to Q8   No   go to Q9 

Page 13



Q8. In your day to day life, have you….. (please tick all that apply) 

 Used Facebook or other social media  

Used Video calling such as Zoom or Teams 

 Used Online shopping e.g. Amazon 

 Used Online banking 

 Booked a service or appointment online 

 Sent an Email 

 Visited an organisations website e.g. Caerphilly Council website 

 Used the Council’s online services   

   Go to Q10 

Q9. Can you tell us the main reason why? (please tick only 1)  

 I don’t have a computer/ laptop etc (the equipment to get online)  

 I don’t have internet at home  

 I can’t afford to pay for internet / data 

 I don’t know how to access services online 

 I prefer not to access services online 

 Something else….?  Please tell us …....................................................................... 

  

Page 14



Q10. Please tell us if you agree or disagree with the following: 

Caerphilly Homes staff working more regularly in community locations  

         Agree   Disagree 

       Don’t Know   

Caerphilly Homes offering more home visits 

         Agree   Disagree 

       Don’t Know   

Have one main Caerphilly Homes office based in Penallta House  

         Agree   Disagree 

       Don’t Know   

 

Q11. Please tell us if you agree or disagree with the following: 

          I/my household will be affected if you close the existing housing offices 

 Agree                go to Q12    Disagree   go to Q12    

 Don’t Know      go to Q12     

 

Q12. Can you share with us why you think this?  

................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 

Page 15



 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
 
 

Q13. I f there was only one main housing office in Penallta House, how would you 
prefer to have contact with Caerphilly Homes staff (please tick your top 3)  

 Telephone                         Email   

 Post                                     Website 

 At a community venue            By someone from Caerphilly Homes visiting    

                                                me at home 

 Text message                Through family, friends or a support worker 

 Social media                         Visiting the housing office in Penallta House 

 

Q14. Do you have any suggestions for places within your community that may 
be suitable for Caerphilly Homes staff to meet with our customers?  

If so, please tell us ……………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 
........................................................................................................................................................ 
 

........................................................................................................................................................ 

Page 16



Q15. Are there are any other comments you would like to make? 

 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
...................................................................................................................................  
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 
 
................................................................................................................................... 

Please return in the prepaid envelope and thank you for taking the time to give us your views 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



              
 

 

SPECIAL HOUSING AND ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
- 21ST NOVEMBER 2023 

 
SUBJECT: HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CHARGES – 2024/2025 
 

REPORT BY: DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 

 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

For Members to consider and take a view on the increased Council Housing rent charges 
proposed in this report, prior to consideration by Cabinet.  The charges predominantly focus 
on council house rents, but also include garages, and are intended to be effective for the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) for the 2024/2025 financial year.  This report will be 
presented to Cabinet Members on 13th December 2023 and will include any comments or 
recommendations from this Committee.  

 
  

2. SUMMARY 
 

2.1 Members will be aware that the preparation of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget 
is quite separate to the work involved in setting the General Fund Budget and Council Tax.  
The HRA is funded by rental income received from Council Tenants (Contract Holders), 
rather than the Council Taxpayer.  Whilst there is a clear separation of these funds, most of 
the proportion of council tenants rent is funded from financial support in the form of Housing 
Benefit or Universal Credit, which is derived from the taxpayers’ purse, therefore value for 
money must always be sought. 77% of our tenants receive financial assistance towards their 
rent.  We charge our council tenants rent over a 48-week basis, but the Welsh Government 
(WG) base their rents on a 52-week basis, so this report shows the 52-week equivalent.  

 
2.2 The Affordable Housing Supply Review was published in April 2019.  The purpose of the 

review was to examine current arrangements supporting the development of affordable 
housing, and to make recommendations for changes designed to increase supply and 
improve delivery from the resources available.  One of the tasks included making a 
recommendation on how a sustainable rent policy can help determine long term affordability 
for tenants and the viability of existing and new housing developments. 

 

2.3 The key recommendations from this review in correlation to the rent policy were  
 

1. The Welsh Government should implement a five-year rent policy from 2020-21. This has 
been based on CPI plus 1% plus an additional £2. 

 

2. There should be a focus on landlords considering Value for Money alongside affordability. 
An explicit annual assessment on cost efficiencies should be part of the rationale for 
justifying any rent increase. 

 

2.4 In reaction to this review, The Minister for Climate Change has stated “There must be a clear 
balance between the interest of landlords and residents.  Affordability for tenants must take 
into account the whole cost of living in a property and Landlords are expected to consider 
these costs when setting rents each year. Affordability is an issue I take very seriously, and I 
am mindful of not placing excessive financial burdens upon tenants”. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



2.5  The Minister in the past has also been keen to continue with a number of initiatives as part of 
the wider rental agreement which include: 

 

 Strengthen approaches designed to minimise all evictions, working effectively with 
partners to deliver on a new agreement not to evict into homelessness. 

 

 Undertake a standardised tenant satisfaction survey for publication on a central website 
to assist tenants in scrutinising and comparing landlord performance.  This is the STAR 
(Survey of Tenants and Residents) survey.  Caerphilly Homes undertook its last STAR 
survey in September/October 2021, and is required to carry out the survey every two 
years.  The next STAR survey is currently out to tenants, with the closing date of 24th 
November.  The results of the 2021 survey were published by WG in May 2022 along 
with those of all the social landlords in Wales. WG will publish the results of the 2023 
survey, but a date has not yet been confirmed. The results will be reported to Members 
through the appropriate channels and feedback will also be provided to all tenants and 
staff. 

 

 Build on existing commitments to deliver high quality homes which comply with the new 
housing quality standard “WDQR 2021” across all tenures on sites which attract Welsh 
Government funding. 

 

 Continue to work towards an aspiration that all new build housing, regardless of tenure, 
achieves energy efficiency standards of no less than Energy Performance Certificate 
(EPC) A on sites that attract any Welsh Government funding. 

 

 All Social landlords are required to make, and evidence, an annual assessment of 
affordability for tenants, cost efficiencies and to demonstrate their homes and services 
represent value for money as part of their decision on the rent uplift to be applied each 
year.  To assist with providing Welsh Government with the necessary assurance, each 
social landlord will be required to complete a self-certification monitoring form which will 
be used to monitor compliance with the Welsh Government Rent Standard.  This form 
must be completed and returned typically by the end of February each year. 

 

 A voluntary agreement was pursued from Councils and Registered Social Landlords 
(RSLs) last year to ensure tenants are supported through the cost-of-living crisis. 

 
2.6 Members may recall from last year’s report of the specific issues that arose which impacted 

on the rent setting process for 2023/24, namely, 
 

1. The Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016.  
2. The cost-of-living impact with a significantly high inflation rate. 
 

2.7 The new Renting Homes (Wales) Act came into effect from 1st December 2022 and dictates 
that rents cannot increase more than once in any 12 month period and tenants need at least 
2 months’ notice of any rent increases.  Previously this was 28 days. In order to meet this 
deadline, WG need to confirm the rent policy details to Local Housing Authorities (LHA’s) 
much sooner.  Officers have been in various network meetings with WG and other LHA’s 
and have raised this as a concern.  Failure to meet the notification timescale means that the 
increase cannot be applied and the HRA will lose that income until the 2 months’ notice 
period has passed.  As an example, on a 2% rent increase, this equates to £92k per month, 
on a 5% increase this equates to £230k per month. 

 
2.8 Following the introduction of the Renting Homes (Wales) Act, we are now using two different 

secure occupation contracts, depending on when contract holders signed their agreements, 
and some rights and obligations are different, which causes confusion to our contract 
holders and their support providers.  Unfortunately, the Act does not enable us to move all 
contract holders on to the same contract but we are planning to make changes to both 

Page 20



contracts to make the wording of the terms contained within the two contracts more alike, 
and to update some terms. 

 
2.9 The Act dictates that rents cannot increase more than once a year.  Currently rent increases 

can only be applied to converted contracts on a Monday, at least one year after the last rent 
increase, so the date of the increase would vary each year, unlike for those on the new 
contract where there is no restriction on the day a rent increase can be applied.  One of the 
proposed variations will ensure that all tenants will be subject to their annual rent increase 
on the same date irrespective of the type of contract.  We are proposing that all rent 
increases will come into effect on 3rd April each year irrespective of the day of the week that 
this falls or type of contract in place. 

 
2.10 The last 2 years have been unprecedented in terms of the market volatility that has seen 

significant increases in inflation.  WG typically do not confirm the rent policy details for the 
forthcoming financial year until very late in the previous December or early January, meaning 
a very short timescale for members to agree any rent increases and inform tenants.  The 
2024/25 policy was announced on 27th October 2023. 

 
2.11 The Consumer Price Index (CPI) rate under the current policy has been confirmed as 6.7%.  
 
2.12 WG have discretion to amend the “CPI plus 1%” rule if CPI falls below 0% or above 3%.  

Last year it was changed to a maximum uplift of 6.5% when CPI was 10.1% and the 
previous year the policy was changed to “CPI only” when CPI was 3.1%.   

 
2.13 The Minister for Climate Change announced on the 27th October 2023 that from April 2024, 

the maximum limit by which social rents can increase will be CPI only at 6.7% which is in line 
with the current CPI rate. This is based on the governments assertion it will protect cash-
strapped tenants. The Minister said, “It is vital that we continue to do all we can to support 
those who face severe hardship, which is why I have made the decision to set the maximum 
uplift cap at the level of inflation.“  On this latest intervention The Minister added, “I am well 
aware of the impacts that the continuing cost-of-living crisis has put on social housing 
tenants and that this uplift may not feel “lower” to many people across Wales”.  However, 
she acknowledged that, “the current economic climate continues to present challenges for 
both social landlords and their tenants”.  
 

2.14 The Minister made reference to the voluntary agreement signed by all social landlords last 
year and urged all social landlords to carefully consider affordability and set rents 
appropriately across their housing stock. As part of the announcement, The Minister said 
there are also ongoing commitments from social landlords in Wales to support tenants 
struggling with the impacts of the ongoing cost-of-living crisis which includes the continuation 
of the ‘no evictions due to financial hardship policy’ for tenants that engage with their 
landlords.  This will include targeted support to those experiencing financial hardship as well 
as investment in existing homes to keep them safe, warm, and affordable to live in. 
Caerphilly Homes continue to operate within this voluntary agreement. Therefore, as agreed 
with the sector, landlords will continue to implement these existing commitments and 
initiatives going forward (as noted in 2.5 above) 

   
2.15  The latest Business Plan submitted for 2023/24 assumed a rent increase of 4% for 2024/25 

reducing to 3% for 2025/26 and 2026/27.  This, however, was on the basis, that inflation was 
expected to fall more sharply in the past 12 months than it has done.  The Office for Budget 
Responsibility (OBR) stated in March 2023 that they expected CPI to have peaked in the last 
quarter of 2022/23, when it was at the highest rate seen in 40 years.  Since April 2023 CPI 
has seen a steady reduction from 8.7% to 6.7% in September, but it has not fallen as much 
as predicted.  Last year the Bank of England forecasted inflation to fall sharply from mid-
2023, perhaps below the target of 2%, and expected inflation to level close to the 2% target 
by 2025/26. 

  

Page 21



2.16 The plan also allowed for a 5% increase in material costs in 2024/25.  However, as inflation 
rates have increased above initial predictions this has also caused a continued increase in 
costs, including for materials and fuel, and these increases also need to be reflected in the 
next business plan to be submitted to WG in March 2024.  Modelling various rent increases 
allowing for an indicative increase in materials is shown further in the report. 

 
2.17 Further modelling has also been carried out under the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) 

affordability model, which was adopted by Cabinet in July 2022.  This has continued to show 
favourably against our current rent level and a scenario of future rent increases. 

 
2.18 An affordability survey managed by Caerphilly Homes, has been available for tenants as part 

of the rent setting process since 2021/22 when the Minister insisted that affordability must be 
taken into consideration.  Officers continue to develop this survey each year.  The survey is 
called “Your Rent, Your Views” with the aim of capturing tenants’ views on their rent, 
particularly on affordability and value for money. This year we also asked tenants about the 
cost-of-living impact. The survey was launched during September 2023. 

 
2.19 In addition to the affordability survey, as a landlord, we are obliged to survey our tenants 

under a standard STAR survey, as mentioned in 2.5 above, which is a consistent framework 
for social landlords to collect, report and measure on tenant’s satisfaction.  The most recent 
survey was sent out in early October 2023. The survey consists of the required core 
questions dictated by Welsh Government and one of these key questions include a direct 
reference to value for money. 1,847 tenants completed this survey in 2021.  On the 24th 
October 1,350 responses had so far been received.  An update on the number of returns will 
be available in early December but final results of the survey will not be available until 
January 2024. 

 

2.20 2024/25 is the last year of the current 5-year rent policy.  The Minister made reference to a 
new rent policy going forward in her consultation meeting with housing officials and 
confirmed that as more homes become more energy efficient (under the new WHQS 2023 
legislation), this should be reflected in the rent.  Wider consultation will be forthcoming as to 
what the new rent policy will look like. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 Members are requested to consider and give a view on the following recommendations, 
which will be presented to Cabinet on the 13th December 2023.  

 

3.2 Officers recommend to Cabinet the following increases for consideration from April 2024 
based on the options explained in the report, which are: - 
 

(i) Rent is increased per property to the maximum permitted as per the WG rent policy 
which is 6.7%. This would increase the current average rent by £6.68 per week from 
£99.72 to £106.40 per week over 52 weeks. 

 

(ii) The level of rent for garages from April 2024 be increased by the same level at 6.7% to 
£9.44 per week. 

 
 

4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

4.1 Inflationary increases on providing all aspects of the housing service are experienced 
annually, however as the HRA cannot legitimately set a deficit budget, the loss of additional 
income will result in reduced resources being available to effectively manage and maintain 
the stock impacting on service delivery and could result in increased levels of borrowing, 
which is an additional cost to the HRA. 

 

 

Page 22



4.2 Housing Benefit/Universal Credit will cover the increased costs for the rent charge in this 
report for 77% of our tenants up to the Housing Benefit limitation rate (yet to be confirmed).   

 

4.3 If charges are not increased annually, it has a detrimental effect on subsequent years as 
higher increases are then needed to recover the shortfalls from previous years. 

 

4.4 The Council’s Business Plan relies on inflationary increases to remain viable and cover 
increasing costs associated with the delivery of the service.  

 

4.5 Additional resource is necessary to be able to meet the demands from Welsh Government 
on maintaining the WHQS, the provision of new affordable housing (Caerphilly CBC target is 
1000 new homes over the next 10 years), decarbonisation of the existing stock and 
increasing support for tenants in order to sustain tenancies, reduce homelessness and 
minimise evictions. 

 

4.6 The impact of Covid and the Cost of Living Crisis has significantly impacted on the HRA, in 
particular material costs, but with a considerable reduction in productivity and resource 
issues, meaning that our budget has been delivering less.  This has resulted in a backlog of 
work which will increase costs going forward. 

4.7 WG will have duly considered all options for the 2024/25 rent settlement and has consulted 
with all relevant stakeholders including tenant representative bodies.  It must therefore be 
acknowledged that the WG rent increase represents a fair balance between supporting 
tenants and maintaining the business needs of social housing providers. 

 
4.8 CCBC rent is currently one of the lowest rents across all the Welsh Local Housing 

Authorities (Data Stat Wales places CCBC 3rd lowest Local Authority for 2023/2024 rent) 
We estimate that our position for 2024/25 would remain in the lowest quartile. 

 

 

5. THE REPORT 
 

5.1 Rent Increase 
 

5.1.1 Members will recall that the rent policy under Welsh Government (WG) has changed over 
recent years, and the Minister has reacted where necessary year on year.  More recently 
however, the rent policy has been fixed for a five-year term.   We are currently under the 
2020/21 to 2024/25 five-year rent band which was set at CPI plus 1%.  This year is therefore 
the final year under this policy. There has been no official engagement from WG in terms of 
what the rent policy will look like from 2025/26 onwards apart from a recent engagement 
session where the impact of energy efficient homes was mentioned.  As an authority we will 
need to be mindful of this going forward, especially as it could affect our new build stock as 
well as our current stock under the new WHQS23 legislation.  Under the current rent policy, 
a target rent band for each Authority was set by WG so there is still some degree of control 
retained by WG however, all of the rental income will be retained by the Authority and used 
to fund expenditure, service debt and create borrowing headroom to support the delivery of 
WHQS and future investment.   

 
5.1.2 During 2021/2022 the target rent band was suspended as a consequence of the Covid-19 

pandemic.  Furthermore the “plus 1%” was removed for the 2022/23 financial year as a 
reaction to the ongoing pressures during the Covid-19 pandemic and Brexit, which had seen 
inflation rise higher than expected.  The Welsh Ministers can determine the appropriate 
change to the rent levels in that year if CPI falls outside of the range 0% and 3%.  As the CPI 
determinator (September) for setting the policy was 6.7% then WG can determine the rent 
increase outside of the policy and has therefore announced a maximum uplift of 6.7% which 
reflects the latest CPI rate (September 2023). 

 
5.1.3 As a result of the housing benefit limitation scheme, rent increases above Department of 

Work and Pension (DWP) rent limits do not produce extra income from the benefits system, 
as any shortfall would be required to be met by the tenant.  This would therefore be an 

Page 23



added financial burden to some of our most vulnerable tenants.  At this stage however, as in 
previous years, details regarding the DWP limit under the current rent policy are yet to be 
confirmed, but all the recommendations contained within this report are compliant with WG.  
Typically, the DWP limit rent is increased by the rent policy, therefore it is assumed that the 
DWP rent limits will increase by the same meaning the rent increase recommended in this 
report will be covered by the same increase in Benefits.  Approximately 77% of tenants are 
in receipt of financial support in the form of Housing Benefit or Universal Credit. 

 
5.1.4 CCBC’s average rent is £99.72 (52-week basis - as at October 2023).  Caerphilly Homes 

charges over a 48-week period as tenants have 4 non-chargeable weeks each year.  The 
48-week equivalent rent is therefore £108.03. 

 
5.1.5 CCBC rent is currently one of the lowest rents across all the Welsh Local Housing 

Authorities (Data Stat Wales places CCBC 3rd lowest Local Authority for 2023/2024 rent).  
We estimate that our position for 2024/25 would remain in the lowest quartile. 

 
5.1.6 The latest business plan submitted to WG in March 2023 included a rent increase of 4% for 

2024/25 reducing to 3% from 2025/26 onwards.  For 2024/25 this was on the assumption of 
applying the CPI plus 1% policy, and at that time CPI forecasts for 2024/25 were expected 
by the Bank of England, to fall sharply (perhaps below the Government target of 2%) and 
level close to the 2% target by 2025/26.  Therefore, the approach at that time is CPI would 
be prudently around 3% and following the CPI plus 1% policy would mean rent was 
calculated at 4%.  However, although inflation rates have dropped (compare September 
2022 rate 10.1% to September 2023 rate 6.7%) it has not dropped to the level suggested by 
experts. Therefore, the HRA is still experiencing a high level of cost increases such as for 
materials and fuel, and these increases need to be reflected in the next business plan to be 
submitted to WG in March 2024.  The 4% estimated rent increase for 2024/25 therefore will 
not be enough to meet the current level of inflation. Since April 2023 the average rise in CPI 
has been 7.58%. 

 
5.1.7 The table below at 5.1.8, shows the impact against the base business plan for the various 

rent increase scenarios.  However, the rent increase cannot be analysed alone without being 
aware of other influences on the HRA, otherwise it will not give the full picture.  The base 
plan has therefore also been uplifted to allow for the additional 23/24 pay award which has 
yet to be confirmed but estimated to be a further £245k more than budgeted, and a further 
£680k estimated increase in 2024/25 based on a 3% pay award.  The living wage increase 
in October 2023 will also have an impact which has increased by 10%. Construction and 
material costs continue to be influenced by factors such as labour shortages and energy 
prices.  The increase in material costs is as a result of disrupted supply chains from the 
aftermath of the Covid-19 pandemic compounded by inflationary volatility, although there 
has been a reduction in some prices according to government figures, but this is explained 
by an overall decline in homebuilding figures.  Key materials have seen significant 
shortages. The UK’s brick supply is limited and there is a decline in ready mixed concrete, 
sand, and gravel.  There is also a shortage of skilled workers in the sector which increases 
demand against supply, all contributing to driving up costs.  Energy prices and the war in 
Ukraine are also factors.  It therefore appears unlikely that costs will go down in the UK in 
2024, although there are signs that products are increasing at a slower rate than the 
previous year. 

  
5.1.8 Scenario 1 – shows the impact against the base plan if there was a nil increase on rents in 

2024/25. The shortfall would increase by some £13m to £56.8m but the impact on the 
borrowing would be even more significant, increasing by £38.5m.  This is because the 
knock-on effect of a nil increase in year 1 will be evidenced in later years when higher 
borrowing is needed to fund a bigger shortfall earlier in the plan.  This means there is less 
funding going forward, impacting on future years. 

 
 Scenario 2 - For this scenario, the material and construction uplift has been increased to 7% 

for 2024/25 from the original 4% (materials) and 5% (construction) initially projected.  The 

Page 24



rent increase remains at 4% as per the current plan.  The shortfall will increase by some 
£12m which requires further borrowing of some £8.4m, and this borrowing has transgressed 
into later years in the plan similar to scenario 1, but not to the same extent.  This shows that 
the tolerance level is limited in terms of additional pressure to the HRA before it impacts on 
future years. 

 
 Scenario 3 – if rents were increased to the CPI of 6.7% and the increase in materials and 

construction to 7% was included, this would have a minimal effect on the borrowing with an 
increase on borrowing of £500k. This shows the optimum level within the plan to maintain 
the current borrowing position. 

 
 More detailed costings will be analysed whilst preparing the 2024/25 Business Plan (due for 

submission to WG in March 2024) but it is prudent to increase the base plan at this stage, to 
understand the impact against the various rent increase scenarios.  Other factors that may 
also need to be considered include interest rates on the cost of borrowing and the bad debt 
provision if arrears are likely to increase due to the cost of living.  There is a likelihood that 
the new build programme will also increase substantially as more schemes are added to the 
portfolio for investigation, and it has now been confirmed that the investment required to 
meet WHQS23 must be included in the business plan from 2025/26. 

 

 
 

5.1.9 We need to strike an appropriate balance between our commitments to service delivery 
(including increasing housing supply), and to protecting tenants from large rent increases. 

 
5.1.10 A rent freeze would protect tenants but would not be financially credible to the HRA. 
 
5.1.11 For every 1% increase on our current rent this would be equivalent to approximately £1 a 

week additional rent charge. 
 
5.1.12 CCBC rent arrears for current tenants are just under 7% of its rent debit, (approx. £3.9m) 

compared to 4.9% last year, and is in the top quartile when compared to the other 10 LHA’s.  
However, ranking is in the mid to lower quartile for the number of NOSP’s (Notice of Seeking 
Possession orders) actioned against tenants, leading to no evictions in the past year due to 
affordability. Instead, focus is on more intense tenant support with the aim of supporting 
tenants to sustain their tenancies, rather than lose them.  This is in line with the current rent 
policy and the cost of living is having a considerable impact.  As the cost-of-living rises, more 
tenants are asking for support which as a consequence leads to an increase in arrears.  This 
is not unique to Caerphilly Homes.  Officers are in regular contact with other local housing 
authorities in Wales who are all experiencing the same issues. 

 
5.1.13 The JRF Model was recently adopted into CCBC’s rent policy, and the latest calculations 

(Office National Statistics (ONS) lowest quarter percentile weekly pay for 2022) show that 
even with a rent increase of 6.7%, all of our stock is lower than the JRF model by an average 
of 8.7%, with the exception of 1 bed flats.  This is similar to the previous year where all of our 
stock was lower than the JRF model.  Caerphilly is ranked the 5th highest earner for the 

2023/24 BASE PLAN - ASSUMPTIONS MADE FOR 2024/25 YEAR

Rent Materials Construction Shortfall Borrowing

Borrowing 

movement 

to Base Plan

Base Plan 4% 4% 5% £43.5m £55.7m Plan submitted to WG March 2023

Scenario 1 0% 4% 5% £56.8m £94.2m +£38.5m 0% rent increase yr 1. No other changes

Scenario 2 4% 7% 7% £55.9m £64.1m +£8.4m 4% rent increase yr 1. Construction 7% year 1

Scenario 3 6.7% 7% 7% £53m £56.2m +£0.5m 6.7 rent% increase. Construction 7% year 1

Page 25



lowest quartile earners out of the 11 remaining Local Housing Authorities.  The model 
therefore suggests that our rent is affordable, with the exception of 1 bed flats, which is 
higher than the affordability model by 37p a week, equivalent to £19.20 a year per property. 
If we were so minded and given this was agreed in the rent policy, there is a rationale for a 
rent increase along with the other circumstances referenced earlier in this note. It is worth 
noting however that the statistics available publicly that are needed to calculate the JRF 
model are not updated regularly.  The weekly earnings are based on 2022 and the tax 
calculations to work out the net pay are based on the 2023/24 tax year as HMRC are yet to 
announce the tax changes for the 2024/25 year.  

 
5.1.14 The loss of income by applying a rent freeze compared to that in the business plan (4%) 

would be about £2.2m compounded each year.  To put this into context, the proposed pay 
award for the HRA for 2024/25 and the additional cost for 2023/24 is just under £1m alone. 
We then have to consider and add to the equation; the increased challenges on building 
safety, the continuing increase on the cost of materials and fuel, the demands for reaching 
net zero carbon with WHQS2023 set to start this year (with an estimated price tag of £650 -
£850m over a minimum of 10 years), combined with a need to upskill and recruit more staff, 
together with our commitment to build 1000 homes.  It is then clear that the HRA depends on 
its annual rent increase to keep moving forward whilst sustaining vital services such as 
tenancy support and repairs & maintenance of homes. 

 
5.1.15 The impact of lower increases ultimately means a reduction of services, reprioritising 

commitments, and increased borrowing.  
 
5.1.16 The Minister has engaged with all parts of the sector to assist in her decision making, 

including tenant representative bodies, Registered Social Landlords (RSL’s) and Local 
Authorities.  Given the potential implications for tenants of any increase in rent levels, 
particularly self-payers, discussions have also focused on what support would be available 
to assist anyone who experiences financial hardship.  

 
5.1.17 Under the 2023/24 Rent Policy,  it was collectively agreed with Welsh Government that 

Councils and RSL’s would make a voluntary commitment to demonstrate to the Minister, and 
tenants, that social landlords are dedicated to ensuring that tenants are effectively supported 
and protected through the cost of living crisis (along with the wider packages of support 
being implemented by Councils and partners), and would provide assurance to the Minister,  
which has been a material consideration in her deliberation and decision making around the 
rent settlement. 

 
5.1.18 Caerphilly Homes along with all other social landlords in Wales have therefore voluntarily 

agreed there will be no evictions due to financial hardship for the term of the rent settlement 
from 2023-24, where tenants engage with their landlords, although Caerphilly Homes were 
already operating under this model prior to the Ministers request and continues to do so.  
The agreement is still required under the 2024/25 rent policy. 

 
5.1.19 During this time social landlords will continue to provide targeted support to those    

experiencing financial hardship to access support available.  
   
5.1.20 Caerphilly Homes along with other social landlords across Wales have agreed to maximise 

the use of all suitable social housing stock, with a focus on helping those in the poorest 
quality transitional accommodation move into longer term homes that meet their needs. 
Caerphilly Homes has also reiterated a continued commitment to invest in existing homes to 
keep them safe, warm, and affordable to live in.   

 
5.1.21 The principal objective at Caerphilly Homes is the management and sustainment of 

tenancies.  Eviction is the last resort, fully embracing the Welsh Government aim of no 
evictions into homelessness.  Adoption of a person centred, customer focused approach for 
supporting and enabling tenants, has led to no evictions for financial hardship in the last 2 
years.  

Page 26



 
 
5.1.22 Caerphilly Homes has restructured the rents team.  There are 19 staff in the rent 

department, 4 of which focus on rent and arrears recovery, 6 who deal with welfare benefit 
checks and entitlements, and 9 who focus on tenancy support and sustainment, including 
income maximisation.  There are now more staff on tenancy support than on rent recovery 
and arrears.  This is evidenced also by the increase in arrears whilst officers focus on 
supporting the tenant to sustain the tenancy, rather than rent recovery.  This is all about 
prevention and early intervention.  Investing in prevention will reduce the incidence of crisis 
situations and likelihood of homelessness. 
 

5.1.23 Caerphilly Homes have also embraced the Transitional Accommodation Capital Programme 
which has been extremely successful with officers acquiring circa 13 properties with the 
majority ex-council, together with returning to use 4 long term void flats, in addition to 
assisting the private sector in the provision of flats for affordable rent in previously empty 
properties. Officers continue to work with private sector landlords under Caerphilly Keys are 
considering building modular homes on council owned land and reviewing our ability to 
convert ‘out-moded’ sheltered stock where possible, to build new homes, more quickly.   

 
5.1.24 There is a significant lack of suitable single person move on accommodation options in the 

borough which is significantly impacting on the ability to move single person households out 
of transitional accommodation into more permanent homes.  This coupled with the current 
state of the Private Rented Sector is a challenge for Caerphilly Homes at this time.  Whilst 
there is a very clear and determined new build plan, RSLs need to work in partnership with 
Caerphilly Homes to build the accommodation needed to meet this demand. 

 
5.1.25 The voluntary agreement of all social landlords in Wales also committed to continue and 

enhance existing engagement with tenants in rent-setting decisions, including explaining 
how income from rent is invested and spent.  Working in partnership with tenants, Welsh 
Government, funders and other partners Caerphilly Homes will contribute to develop a 
consistent approach to assessing affordability across the social housing sector in Wales.   

 
5.1.26 Caerphilly Homes and other social landlords across Wales will also be required to evidence 

an annual assessment of affordability for tenants and to demonstrate their homes and 
services represent value for money as part of their decision on the rent uplift to be applied 
each year.  Each landlord must complete a self-certification monitoring form which will be 
used to monitor compliance with the WG rent standard. 

 
5.1.27 Caerphilly Homes support consistent messaging, and we do this direct to all tenants in 

updates and surveys.  A Cost-of-Living newsletter has been sent out twice to all CCBC 
residents explaining the support that is on offer, with another one due to be sent out in the 
Autumn. 

 
5.1.28 in 2021 Caerphilly Homes carried out tenant focus groups and received a clear request from 

tenants to show them how all the rent is being spent across the relevant housing services.  
We sent this information out earlier this year with the rent charge letters in the form of a 
leaflet for the financial year 2021/22 spend.  A commitment has been given to provide this to 
all our contract holders every year. 

 
5.1.29 Caerphilly Council would welcome a consistent approach to an affordability model.  In fact, 

Caerphilly Homes engaged with WG colleagues when reviewing the 2023/24 rent policy to 
consider what existing affordability benchmarks were available.  Through the research and 
discussion with officials it appeared that the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) Living Rent 
model (benchmarking rent not being any higher than 28% of household income) to be a 
good affordability model.  Based on the latest available information from the Office of 
National Statistics data, against the JRF model, Caerphilly Homes rents are affordable for 
88% of its stock, with the remaining 12% being just above the threshold by 37p per week. 
The maximum rent increase that could be applied to make sure 100% of our stock is 

Page 27



affordable would be 6.25%, but this is to ensure the 1 bed flats fall in line with the JRF 
affordability model.  The rest of the stock could absorb increases between 7.7% and 24.63% 
across the property types before reaching the JRF affordability threshold, however this would 
contravene the WG rent policy. 

 

5.1.30 On the 23rd May 2023 Council agreed to a £100m borrowing level which included 
maintaining the WHQS programme and progressing with new build.  Total borrowing for 
achieving the WHQS standard was £40.9m.  Borrowing for new build was therefore 
confirmed at £49.1m within the current approval limit. This limit does not include the costs of 
additional challenges from WHQS 2023, or the increases due to continued higher inflation 
rates and the cost of living.  The WHQS 2023 guidance was very recently launched on 26th 
October 2023 and requires all landlords to update their business plan to reflect the new 
legislation by 31/3/25. The current plan therefore does not include the costs associated with 
the new legislative demands (e.g. decarbonisation) and also does not include the changes 
within a new build programme of this scale where schemes may turn out to be unviable and 
new schemes are added. 

 

5.1.31 Members must also consider the pressure Local Housing Authorities are facing from Welsh 
Government on increasing housing supply and ensuring we meet the decarbonisation 
agenda, both of which require significant investment.  This directly links with the Council’s 
commitment contained within the Corporate Plan 2023-2028 and Wellbeing Objective 2 
which will enable our residents to thrive by building new Council houses, providing more 
affordable homes and reducing homelessness, together with Wellbeing Objective 5 which 
will enable our environment to be greener by meeting zero carbon targets not only on new 
council homes but on the existing 10,600 council homes already in Caerphilly CBC’s 
portfolio. 

 
5.1.32 A nil increase for 2024/25 would mean the rent would remain at £99.72/wk. (52 wk.) but this 

would require considerable future rent increases to get back into the target rent band 
envelope range if and when this is re-introduced.  This would also result in reduced income 
of £2.2m annually to that assumed within our business plan, and this is without factoring in 
any further cost increases as explained in the report.  Again, members must consider the 
ongoing effect of this reduced rent to address the significant investment required as 
explained above. 

 
5.1.33 A 6.7% increase for 2024/25 would mean the rent would be set at £106.40/wk. (52 wk.) 

which would result in additional income of some £3.7m which is £1.5m more than assumed 
within the Business Plan (which was based on a 4% increase).  However, based on the 
increases explained in 5.1.7 and 5.1.8 of this report, this increase will just about sustain the 
current borrowing level using the current business plan format. 

 
5.1.34 Additional borrowing as a consequence of income shortfalls must be affordable under the 

Prudential Code.  It also means an increase in debt and interest charges which take 
resources away from the HRA to manage and maintain our housing stock and support our 
tenants. 

 
5.1.35 In addition, affordability for tenants is now a factor that must be considered as part of setting 

any rent increases.  This involves engaging with tenants to capture relevant data and views 
and establishing a suitable model that would evidence affordability together with a system for 
accurately recording such information.  “Your rent your views” surveys have been available 
to tenants each year since 2020. 

 
5.1.36 Since 2014/15 the average rent increase for Caerphilly Homes is 3.3% 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



5.2 Affordability 

 
5.2.1 Officers have continued to work on developing the affordability survey and have met 

colleagues in Welsh Government and other local authorities with the aim of sharing best 
practice.  The feedback from Welsh Government on previous year’s rent setting processes 
across the sector gave us more of an understanding as to what Welsh Government were 
expecting in order to evidence affordability.  For example, landlords automatically received a 
favourable score if they used the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) Living Rent model or 
an equivalent affordability tool.  As referenced in 5.1.13 the JRF Affordability model was 
agreed by Cabinet on the 13th July 2022 to be included as part of Caerphilly Homes existing 
rent policy. 

 
5.2.2 Other areas of good practice included a wide range of tenant consultation platforms and 

appropriate feedback, working in collaboration with tenants to set rents.  The authority have 
been limited to certain media platforms due to GDPR concerns, which has restricted ability to 
reach all tenants.  However, as in the previous two years, officers have developed a full 
consultation process including an online “your rent, your view” survey during September/ 
October 2023, together with two focus groups, and one online discussion.  The survey was 
posted on Facebook and Twitter and was also available on the Council’s website.  An 
opportunity to win high street shopping vouchers was also used as an incentive to return the 
survey.  EGov bulletins were sent to those tenants who have registered with the link and 
emails were also sent to tenants where email records were held.  Engaged community 
groups and tenants were also contacted, and front-line officers dealing with contract holders 
during the survey period encouraged take up of the survey.  There were periodic reminders 
over the term of the survey and there was also a dedicated helpline for any tenants who 
required assistance in completing the survey. 

 
5.2.3 Members will recall that Caerphilly Homes were approached by TPAS Cymru last year to 

present at a rent consultation webinar and share best practice on how we engage with our 
tenants.  We have been quoted as a “fantastic case study” together with 2 other social 
landlords (1 in Wales and 1 in Scotland).  Caerphilly Homes also presented at TPAS Cymru 
conference in November 2022 on our rent and affordability consultation, and in July 2023 we 
were asked to be part of an online TPAS Cymru session about involving tenants in the rent 
setting process, so whilst is has proven challenging to try and engage with as many tenants 
as possible through different media, it is clear that we are leading the way on how we 
approach it. 

 
5.2.4 Overall, there were 267 tenant responses to the survey with a mix of areas and tenures 

being represented.  Unfortunately, this was a similar take up to the previous year, despite 
the efforts made. 

 
5.2.5 37% of the tenants were represented from the East of the Borough, 30% from the South and 

33% from the North.  
 
5.2.6 The majority of responses were from tenants in the age group 50-65 (36%) followed by the 

age group 26-39 (26%) but all ages were represented, with the main source of income being 
from employment in full or part time work (45%) followed by sickness, disability or 
unemployment benefits (32%), and pension (17%). 

 
5.2.7 56% of the respondents received some form of benefit support towards paying their rent.  

43% of respondents received no support and 1% preferred not to say. 
 
5.2.8 63% of responding tenants think our rents are fair and affordable (compared to 68% last 

year) and 37% do not.  Mixed responses vary from “Because I get benefits to help it is 
affordable”, “By comparison to private landlords”, “I have always found the rent with the 
council to be fair and affordable” to “Bedroom tax is cancelling out housing benefit”, “With the 
cost of living going up and energy prices it’s getting more and more difficult to manage”, and 
“I live alone with only one wage”. 

Page 29



5.2.9 When asked how concerned tenants would be about being able to afford their rent if there 
was an increase in April 2024, 62% of tenants were extremely or very concerned. 
 

5.2.10 46% of tenants said the cost of living had affected them a lot in the last 12 months where 
they have struggled to pay bills, and 42% said it had affected them quite a bit where they 
had to make a few changes and sacrifices, 9% said it had affected them a little, but it is 
manageable. 54% did not have a prepayment meter. 45% did and 1% preferred not to say. 
When asked to prioritise the most expensive service that tenants had struggled to afford 
over the last 12 months the outcome was as follows: 

 
54%  Food 
25%  Gas 
6%  Electric 
4% Car/Transport 
4% Council Tax 
2% Rent 
1% Water 
1% Clothing 
1% White goods 

 
5.2.11 Tenants listed the 3 most important services as being: 

 

 Tenancy Support 

  Day to Day Repairs 

 Fitting homes with new kitchens/bathrooms etc 
 
5.2.12 Additional comments tenants expressed at the end of the survey included: - 

 

 You’re doing a fair job in difficult circumstances. Not perfect (!) – nobody is – but a fair 
job. 

 

 I believe rents in the council shouldn’t be increased. It is a deprived area, and the cost of 
living should be low to reflect that. I do believe the right to buy should come back. 

 
 I have always said that I feel privileged to have my council house. 
 

 Times are hard. Councils are not exempt from hardship. Note Birmingham Council. Do 
what you have to maintain things. I hope it doesn’t make life impossible for people. 

 

 In general, I am very proud of CCBC, however there are occasions where I think money 
could be better spent. 

 
 Bedroom tax is unjust. 
 

 I’ve been in touch with Tenancy Support and currently getting help. 
 

 Things are extremely costly at the moment and there is no help for people who work 
when we are struggling just as much as people who don’t work or work part time. 

 
 Caerphilly has got to be the best council I have lived in, and I lived in Cornwall for 36 

years. 
 

5.2.13 Any tenant who expressed difficulties with paying their rent within the survey comments, will 
be contacted and offered support by the Tenancy Support Team (if they gave their 
permission for us to contact them). 

 
 
 

Page 30



5.2.14 25 tenants participated in the focus groups. When asked about a potential rent increase 10 
of the group gave a positive response, 10 weren’t sure and 4 gave a negative response. 
Tenants understood the reasoning for applying a rent increase and the impact on the 
housing service by not applying a rent increase, albeit they wanted the increase to be as low 
as possible.  Some said, “it’s got to happen for the upkeep of the homes” and other 
comments were “Understand why there needs to be an increase but still unsure”, “Accept it 
is going to happen but worried how people who are already struggling will manage?”.  
 

5.2.15 One group prioritised the Caerphilly Homes services with Tenancy Support being the highest  
importance, followed by, dealing with anti-social behaviour, and disabled adaptations.  
Generally, between the groups, food prices were a concern and the removal of school meals 
in the holidays has also had a major impact.  Energy price increases were causing some to 
be more careful with heating, using blankets instead, and those with access to a car were 
using it less and only when necessary.  Most agreed that they had to cut out luxury items, 
and there was a general consensus that now the water rates are no longer collected with the 
rent that people feel that they have extra bills to pay.  
 

5.2.16 21 of the group said their rent was affordable at the moment and 4 said it wasn’t.  Comments 
included “rent is a priority, have to keep a roof over your head, have had to cut back!”, 
“Compared with private sector council rent is more reasonable”, “Had a change in 
circumstances and finding it difficult to pay full rent”.  
 

5.2.17 As a result of the focus groups 2 new tenants were recruited to our engaged list and officers 
are liaising with tenants about bringing a Cost of Living/Welfare Benefit outreach forum to 
areas within the Borough.  22 people completed an evaluation form.  All 22 said the focus 
group was worth attending and comments included “really informative session”, “Loved the 
meeting, liked getting to know what was going on and sharing our views, really good – I was 
happy” and “could have been a bit longer”. 

 

5.2.18 The survey overall gave us a mixed response, and there are clearly some responses that 
need to be followed up, but it does suggest a higher proportion of our tenants agree that 
their rent is affordable. 

 

5.2.19 The average social rent for Caerphilly CBC in 2023/24 at the time of reporting and publishing 
in Data Stat Wales was £93.80/wk., which is 5.2% lower than the All-Wales Average for 
Local Authorities of £105.08/wk.  The All-Wales Average for Registered Social Landlords is 
£107.64/wk. Caerphilly CBC is ranked the 3rd lowest Local Authority in Wales in terms of its 
weekly rent according to Data Stat Wales. 

 

5.2.20 Data Stat Wales latest publication for Private rents in Caerphilly CBC only go as far as 
2019/20.  Officers have therefore used a well-known estate agent and compared private 
rents on average throughout the borough against Caerphilly Homes average rent for the 
same property type.  The comparisons are shown below. 

 

    52 week charge 

   Private CCBC 

House 2 bed 184.61 99.59 

House 3 bed 186.74 107.06 

House 4 bed 253.84 111.89 

Flat 1 bed 129.92 84.29 

Flat 2 bed 158.65 91.62 

 
5.2.21 The Office of National Statistics earnings data (2022) ranks Caerphilly CBC 5th highest out of 

the 11 Local Housing Authorities in terms of workplace earnings gross weekly pay (at the 
lower quartile) at £356.60, which is 4.76% above the All-Wales Average for the LHA’s at 
£340.40/wk. The Living Wage has also recently been uplifted by 10%, giving more financial 
assistance to the lower earners, and indications are that State Pension could increase in April 
2024 by 8.5% in line with earnings, 

Page 31



5.2.21 The results of the 2021 STAR survey to tenants, on their satisfaction with the housing 
service, confirmed 77% were satisfied overall with the service provided by Caerphilly Homes, 
and 76% were satisfied that their rent provides value for money. 

 
5.2.22 These statistics together with the tenant’s affordability survey suggest that the rent is 

affordable.  However, Welsh Government require us to prove this in terms of measuring our 
current rent against an appropriate affordability model, which will be the JRF model.  The 
JRF affordability model currently shows Caerphilly Homes rent is affordable with a 6.7% 
increase. 

 
5.3  Tenancy Support 

 
5.3.1 Caerphilly Homes Rents team offer person centred support to tenants.  A team of tenancy 

and welfare benefit support staff are available to provide support as soon as a tenancy 
starts.  There are more staff within the team that focus on tenancy support than on rent 
recovery and arrears.  This is evidenced by the increase in arrears mentioned in 5.1.12 as 
officers are focused more on supporting the tenant to sustain the tenancy rather than rent 
recovery.  Staff have the discretion and flexibility to deal with differing individual 
circumstances when tenants are in difficulty and are empowered to deliver innovative 
solutions. 

5.3.2 The number of tenants claiming housing benefit or universal credit housing costs to help pay 
their rent has increased from 72% to 77% since December 2020.   
 

5.3.3 In the last financial year, our staff have assisted tenants to claim over £3m in additional 
benefits.  This support is not only offered to tenants experiencing financial hardship, but to 
tenants who we recognise using key data sets are not claiming their full entitlement of 
benefits. 
 

5.3.4 In addition to this: 
 

 2700 tenants have been provided with advice and support. 

 712 successful applications for Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP’s). 

 310 referrals to Citizen Advice Bureau for formal debt and money advice. 

 Working in partnership with Citizens Advice Caerphilly, energy advice and emergency top 
up vouchers provided to 369 tenants. 

 Arranged 410 food parcels. 

 2 cost of living newsletters sent to all residents within CCBC. 

 No evictions as a result of affordability issues. 
 
5.3.5 A statement from Caerphilly and Blaenau Gwent CAB said: 

  “Citizens Advice Caerphilly and Blaenau Gwent's Warmer Wales 2 energy advice project has 
provided essential energy advice during the cost-of-living crisis.  Working in partnership with 
Caerphilly Housing, we have developed the project to offer fuel vouchers to vulnerable 
individuals experiencing severe hardship and unable to heat their homes.  Working together 
we have jointly promoted the benefits of the project, increased the number of people 
accessing advice and provided key support to communities across Caerphilly Borough. 
Working with Housing has not only allowed us to meet the needs of more people but has 
helped us to deliver a successful energy product more effectively than we could have done 
working alone. In the last year this partnership has supported over 500 residents providing 
them with fuel vouchers and key energy advice.  We have prevented vulnerable families 
from disconnection and provided key energy advice tips and support”.    

 
5.3.6 When asked in the most recent Your Rent Your View Survey to list the 3 most important 

services, Tenancy Support was the top service chosen by tenants.  This support is integral to 
the Rents Team and will continue to be offered to all tenants.  

 
 

Page 32



5.3.7 In addition to the direct support offered to tenants by the Rents Team and via Caerphilly 
Cares, there is a cost-of-living workstream set up by the Affordable Homes Partnership of 
which Caerphilly Homes is a member. The aim is to set up consistent support to tenants by 
researching good practice throughout the sector. The Councils Local Housing Strategy 
delivery plan also includes creating a cost-of-living support package which ties in with the 
Affordable Homes Partnership objectives. The HRA will contribute towards this using the 
earmarked balances specifically set up to support tenants. 

 
5.4 Garage Charges 
 

5.4.1 The garage rationalisation and refurbishment programme, linked to the WHQS programme 
has led to a reduction in our garage stock but has resulted in improvements to our remaining 
stock.  This work had a significant impact on void levels as the blocks of garages had to be 
fully vacated prior to commencement of works on each site.  On completion of works to each 
block, former garage tenants and former leaseholders of garage plots have been offered 
new tenancies of the newly built or refurbished garages, prior to new tenants being sought 
for the remainder from existing waiting lists or through marketing. In addition, a number of 
garages have been demolished due to unsuitability and lack of demand.  Caerphilly Homes 
currently own 886 garages of which 146 (16%) are let to council tenants and 478 (54%) are 
let to private residents.  The remaining 262 (30%) are void. 

 
5.4.2 The rent on garages was not increased for 3 years while the rationalisation programme was 

being undertaken but an increase was re-introduced in 2020/21 at 1.5%.  Total investment to 
our garage stock was £2.6m and we can collect around £380k per annum in charges if all 
garages are let. Currently our garage charge is £8.85 per week and only 16% of garage 
tenants are council tenants. This is an issue that we need to review. The 2023/24 business 
plan assumed a 3% increase for the 2024/25 financial year, which was based on the 
forecasted RPI rate of inflation at the time of preparing the business plan.  The actual RPI 
rate currently is 8.9% with sources estimating this is likely to fall to 1.6% next year.  The 
Business Plan therefore is not viable in terms of the income collected to meet the inflation 
rate currently although it is set to fall in the future. It is recommended that the increase for 
garages falls in line with the rent increase this year to optimise the revenue whilst there is a 
shortfall in the plan. This would also align more with a CPI increase rather than the historic 
RPI increase.  For the 16% who are council tenants a 6.7% increase would equate to £9.44 
per week (an additional 59p per week) and for the non-council tenants this would equate to 
£11.33 which includes VAT.  

 
  Tenants in receipt of benefit 

 
5.4.3 Garage rents are not eligible for housing benefit and the majority of garage tenants are not 

tenants of Council homes. 
 
 Financial impact 
 
5.4.4 The Business Plan has included a 3% increase on garage rental income, but this was based 

on predictions that the inflation rate would fall lower than it actually did. Not increasing the 
income in line with predicted inflation will mean a loss of approximately £14k.   

 
   
6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 Assumptions are prevalent within the Housing Business Plan and are necessary to create a 
30-year projection as requested by Welsh Government.  Assumptions are included on key 
drivers such as (i) Interest rates (ii) Inflation (iii) Rental Increases (iv) Staffing levels (v) stock 
movement (vi) capital programme expenditure (vi) level of rent arrears, and (vii) level of voids 
and are taken from projections, local knowledge and Welsh Government guidance. 

 
  
 

Page 33



7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

7.1 Section 24 of the Housing Act 1985 provides Local Housing Authorities (LHA’s) with the 
power to set rents for its properties relating to Part II of said Act.  A LHA is under a duty to 
act reasonably by determining rent levels.  When setting rents under this section, a LHA 
must comply with any standards relating to rent set by the Welsh Ministers under section 111 
of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 and must also have regard to guidance issue under section 
112 of the 2014 Act.  Section 74 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires a 
LHA to keep and maintain a HRA ring-fenced account which ensures that the income raised 
from operating council housing is spent on council housing, and that neither the HRA nor 
General Fund are cross subsidised.  Section 76 of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 requires that the HRA cannot be set into a deficit. 

 
7.2 An increase in rents is required in order not to set a deficit budget within the HRA.  The 

additional income is utilised on maintaining or improving existing services as well as creating 
financial resource to be able to meet WG agendas and challenges such as minimising 
evictions, not to evict into homelessness, deliver high quality homes, evidencing affordability 
and value for money, maintaining WHQS, installing Optimised Retrofit Programmes on 
existing stock, and enhancing tenant involvement.  

 
7.3 63% of tenants who were surveyed through the “Your rent your view” survey confirmed that 

their rents were deemed fair and affordable. 76% of tenants who were surveyed on the latest 
STAR survey also thought their rents provided value for money and 77% were satisfied with 
the services provided.  As part of the rent setting process, tenants were also involved in 
focus groups.  

 

7.4 The latest statistics from Data Stat Wales rank Caerphilly CBC in the lowest quartile in terms 
of Local Authority rent (9th out of 11 LHA’s) and 5.2% below the Wales average, also 5th 
highest in terms of workplace earnings (lower quartile).  77% of Caerphilly CBC tenants are 
in receipt of financial support for their rent in the form of Housing Benefit or Universal Credit.  
Tenancy support is offered to all tenants.  

 

7.5 The proposed increase during an unprecedented increase in inflation is set as per the rent 
policy determined by Welsh Government and is in line with the current inflation rate 

 

7.6 Hyperlink to the Integrated Impact Assessment:  
  
 
 

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 This report deals with the financial implications of the proposed rent increases which affect 
the HRA. 

 

8.2 The impact of the Welfare Reform Act is not taken into consideration  
 
 

9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 The proposals contained in this report will not alter the current arrangements for the 
collection of housing revenue account monies. 

 
 

10. CONSULTATIONS 
 

10.1 All consultation responses have been reflected in this report 
 
10.2 The proposed contract variations referred to at Items 2.8 and 2.9 above will be progressed in 

accordance with the requirements of the Renting Homes (Wales) Act and will include 
consultation with all contract holders, with all agreed variations incorporated into contracts 
prior to 3rd April 2024.  

Page 34

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-form-hra-charges-21-nov-23


11. STATUTORY POWER  
 

11.1 Local Government Acts 1972. This is a Cabinet function. 
 
 
Author: Lesley Allen, Finance Manager, Housing 

allenl@caerphilly.gov.uk   Tel: 01443 864470 
 
Consultees: Cllr Andrew Whitcombe  - Chair Housing and Environment Scrutiny Committee 
 Cllr Shane Williams - Vice Chair Housing and Environment Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Shayne Cook  - Cabinet Member for Housing 
Dave Street  - Deputy Chief Executive 
Nick Taylor-Williams - Head of Housing 
Robert Tranter  - Head of Legal Services/Monitoring Officer 
Stephen R Harris   - Head of Corporate Finance and S151 Officer  
Sandra Isaacs  - Rents Manager 
Amanda Main  - Acting Benefits Manager 
Fiona Wilkins   - Housing Services Manager 
Jane Roberts-Waite - Head of Housing Development and Strategy 
Catherine Edwards  - Head of Assets Maintenance and Repairs 
Kerry Denman  - Housing Solutions Manager 
Mandy Betts  - Tenants and Community Involvement Manager  

 
Background Papers: N/A 

Page 35

mailto:allenl@caerphilly.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 36


	Agenda
	3 Housing Offices Rationalisation.
	4 Housing Revenue Account Charges - 2024/2025.

